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The Architect

Louis H. Sullivan was born in Boston in
1856 and, at age 18, attended the fledg-
ling Architecture School at M.I.T. At age
18, after working under architects Frank
Furness in Philadelphia and William
LeBaron Jenney in Chicago, he studied
at the Ecole des Beaux-Arts in Paris for
about six months, followed by a trip to
Italy, where he was particularly
impressed by the Sistine Chapel. Sullivan
then returned to the United States and
settled in Chicago. After working for a
few years at Dankmar Adler’s firm as
chief draftsman and designer, they
formed the firm of Adler and Sullivan in
May 1883. Sullivan was the primary
design partner and Adler was the engi-
neer. Adler and Sullivan’s buildings,
including the Auditorium and Stock
Exchange Buildings in Chicago, the
Wainwright Building in St. Louis, and the
Guaranty Building, were at the leading
edge of American architecture and sky-
scraper design.

Louis Sullivan’s

Guaranty Building

The Guaranty Building was Sullivan and
Adier’s last collaboration; Adler withdrew
from the firm as the building neared com-
pletion. Prevailing tastes preferred a
more traditional neoclassicism over
Sullivan's innovations, and Sullivan
increasingly turned his practice from sky-
scrapers to smaller buildings in small
towns. His career declined, and Sullivan
died in obscurity and poverty in Chicago
in 1924,

The Design

The Guaranty Building, which opened in
1896, is recognized as one of the mas-
terpieces of Louis Sullivan, probably the
most important American architect of the
19th century and the “Father of the
Skyscraper.”

In the 1890s, the steel skeleton sky-
scraper was a new and uniquely
American building type. Most early sky-
scrapers borrowed heavily from more tra-
ditional European design and used strong
horizontal lines to de-emphasize their
verticality. Sullivan wanted a bold archi-

tectural style for the new building type
that would express the confidence and
prosperity of the United States at the
end of the 19th century. He rejected tra-
ditional designs and celebrated the sky-
scraper’s verticality. The Guaranty is an
outstanding example of his innovations.

While similar to his 1890 Wainwright
Building, which combines masonry with
terra cotta for ornament, the Guaranty
Building (which Sullivan considered a
“sister” to the more “brotherly” burliness
of the Wainwright) makes ornament the
focus through the use of terra cotta to
cover all the exterior surfaces fronting on
Pearl and Church Streets. The piers
between the windows form strong verti-
cal lines that draw the eye upward to the
dominant cornice. Despite the technolog-
ical advancements that made the sky-
scraper possible, including high-quality
structural steel and electric elevators,
Sullivan strove to connect the building
with the natural world. His ornamentation
for the Guaranty was inspired by flowers,
seedpods, and, at the top of the building,
the spreading branches of a tree.



The Guaranty represents the pinnacle of
Sullivan’s forwardthinking design and
marks the beginning of the uniquely
American style of architecture that influ-
enced the young Frank Lloyd Wright,
who worked for Adler and Sullivan from
1888 to 1893. Even after leaving the
firm, Wright continued to revere Sullivan,
calling him “the Master.” As Sullivan lay
on his death bed, he gave Wright an
extensive collection of his drawings. The
drawings, along with other Wright memo-
rabilia, now reside at the Avery Library
at Columbia University.

The Building

The Guaranty Building's story dates back
to approximately 1890, when several
wooden frame structures stood on the
corner of Pearl and Church Streets.
Hascal L. Taylor, a local oil magnate, pur-
chased the site with a dream to build the
“finest office building in the country.”

Taylor died just before plans for the
building were announced. The Guaranty
Construction Company of Chicago
acquired the plans and built the building
between March 1895 and March 1896.
At 152 feet, it was the tallest in the city.
The structure originally had a “U" shape,
with an open court to the south to pro-
vide natural light (Adler wrote an article
in 1896 about why such an amenity
attracted high-quality tenants). The light
court, in the center of the U, was faced
in white glazed tiles to reflect as much
light as possible.

The Guaranty was renamed the
Prudential Building in 1898 to acknowl-
edge refinancing provided by the
Prudential Insurance Company. Both
names can be seen above the entrances.
For decades, the structure was one of
Buffalo’s finest business addresses.

The Great Depression brought hard
times for the building. Although recog-
nized as an architectural masterpiece as

early as 1940, especially in Europe, the
building deteriorated through the next
several decades. By the mid 1950s, it
was being described as “old and dirty."
In 1955, an unfortunate “modernization”
project added a fiberglass exterior to the
lower floors and a dropped ceiling in the
lobby. Later cleaning efforts damaged
the intricate terra cotta with harsh
sandblasting.

The decline accelerated with a fire in
1974 that damaged the interior.
Occupancy dropped, and the building
was sold at auction. Despite a growing
appreciation for the building and its des-
ignation in 1975 as a National Historic
Landmark, by 1977 an out-of-town owner
(an insurance company that had fore-
closed its mortgage) was considering
plans to demolish it to make the site
more marketable.

Strenuous objections from preservation-
ists in Buffalo and around the country
convinced the owners to be patient. Civic
leaders, most notably Senator Daniel
Patrick Moynihan, secured a series of
grants and loans to restore the building.
By December 1983, the $12.4 million
restoration project was complete, and
the officially re-named Guaranty Building
again took its rightful place among
Buffalo’s premier office buildings.

The building's future was threatened
again in 1998 when its owner went into
bankruptcy. Hodgson Russ LLP, which
had been a leading force in earlier efforts
to preserve the building, purchased it to
use as its principal Buffalo office, thus
ensuring the Guaranty Building will con-
tinue as one of America’s most important
architectural landmarks.

Terra Cotta

Terra cotta (ltalian for ‘baked earth’) is a
building material that uses clay to form
durable, versatile, and fireproof tiles. It
can be formed into a variety of shapes,

including very intricate designs. Once
fired at high temperatures, much like a
clay flowerpot or ceramic dinner plate,
terra cotta gives the look and feel of
stone, but is comparatively lightweight
and inexpensive.

Terra cotta was a favorite material of
Louis Sullivan and other late 19th centu-
ry architects, both for ornament and as a
fire retardant. Many notable buildings in
Buffalo use terra cotta extensively,
including the Niagara Mohawk,
Telephone, Calumet, Sidway, and
Ansonia Buildings, and Shea's
Performing Arts Center and the

Catholic Center.

The Firm

Hodgson Russ is among the 200 largest
law firms in the U.S. Established in 1817,
Hodgson Russ is the only law firm that

can count two former U.S. presidents,
Millard Fillmore and Grover Cleveland,
among its alumni.

Hodgson Russ, which has offices in New
York, Florida, and Ontario, Canada, is
proud of its commitment to the cultural,
educational, social, and civic life of the
communities it serves. The Firm’s pur-
chase of the Guaranty Building reflects
Hodgson Russ's dedication to preserving
and celebrating the architectural heritage
of its communities.
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